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The Portage: A Place for Crossing Between the Fox and the Wisconsin



Historic Indians and later European explorers and fur traders of the Upper Mississippi Valley used the Fox and Wisconsin rivers connected by the narrow portage as a primary highway between the Great Lakes and Mississippi River.  Traversing the two mile, marshy divide through what became the City of Portage, Wisconsin, it linked two sections of the nation, the Northeast along the Erie Canal and Great Lakes and the Midwest along the Mississippi.  As American settlement spread into the two valleys, early boosters of the territory recognized the importance of the route to the region's economic growth.



The portage and the Wisconsin and Fox rivers composed the original waterway.  The Upper Fox descends gradually for 137 miles between Portage and Lake Winnebago, winding through a rural landscape of small communities.  The Lower Fox drops an abrupt 168' in thirty-nine miles between lakes Winnebago and Michigan at Green Bay, connecting a series of urban communities which utilized its waterpower.  Prior to the construction of power dams in the twentieth century, the Wisconsin was a shallow river flowing over a sandy bottom.  Its many sand bars divided the river into numerous, sinuous channels.  These characteristics eventually frustrated the development of a navigation channel between Portage and the Mississippi River at Prairie du Chien.



This rather unique geographic setting at Portage stimulated the improvement of the Fox-Wisconsin Waterway navigation project of which the canal is apart.  The Portage Canal includes the Portage Lock at the west or Wisconsin River end of the canal.  Established as commerce began to move along the canal, the Portage business district rises north of this section of the canal.  The ruins of the Fort Winnebago Lock lie at its east end near the Fox.  The east two-thirds of the canal flow through a rural landscape.



Canal boosters soon realized that they required not only a channel between the two rivers, but they had to make the length of the two rivers navigable between their mouths and the canal.  A slack water system along the Fox altered the natural fall of the river to a series of steps by the construction of dams which created level pools between them.  Short canals with one or more locks lifted boats around the dams between the pools.  By 1880, nine locks and their associated dams formed the navigation system along the Upper Fox.  A series of channels and seventeen locks provided access around the dams of the Lower Fox by the late 1850s.  Despite attempts to straighten and deepen the Wisconsin's course, efforts failed to create a navigation system between the 1850s and mid-1880s.



Transportation and Commerce at Early Settlement



Although never emerging as the major shipping channel of its boosters' dreams, the Portage Canal and Fox Waterway gain historical significance by representing the transportation needs of early Wisconsin and the government policies which emerged to fulfill them.



Distances between Wisconsin and its major markets in the East were great.  Between the 1820s and the 1850s, waterways provided the major means to overcome problems of long-distance trade from isolated midwestern settlements.  Into the 1850s, most products from the Midwest traveled the long journey went down the Mississippi and east from New Orleans.  This shipment was expensive, absorbing profits from the sale of farmers' products and severely retarding economic growth.  The initial promotion of the Portage Canal between the late 1820s and the 1850s pointed to the creation of a significantly more direct waterway connecting the Great Lakes to the Mississippi to provide this needed avenue.  The success of the Erie Canal completed in 1825 demonstrated its capabilities.  



Most waterways improved for navigation were developmental.  Anticipating future revenues, they were constructed through sparsely populated areas to assist settlement and the expansion of commerce.  Although these improvements themselves were often unprofitable, their presence permitted significant expansion in population, commercial wheat agricultural, small industrial shops, and trade centers; increased trade; expanded employment; and stimulated growth in property values.



Developing areas such as Wisconsin often lacked the concentration of capital to support large-scale undertakings.  Because gain from waterway investment was belated and too limited for risking private capital, these areas required partial government support to provide the necessary financial backing.  Between 1815 and 1860, 62 percent of canal funding came from government sources.



Until the 1860s, the constitutionality of the federal sponsorship of internal improvements remained in doubt.  By the 1820s, Congress most commonly supported feasibility studies for navigation improvements through the Army Corps of Engineers (Corps).  The Corps often justified its actions as an effort to enhance military access to the interior.  Congress also provided partial support for navigation improvements to states by making large land grants.  After the Civil War, the agency became more directly involved by planning and overseeing the completion of navigation projects.



With the federal role in doubt, government involvement usually meant state provision of part or all of the capital to complete ownership of the improvement or the sharing of responsibility with a private agency.  State support required a regulatory agency such as a board of public works or trustees to ensure proper expenditures of state monies, regulation of the use of land grants, and construction.  States secured sizeable loans for construction through the sale of bonds to eastern investment companies.  Triggering considerable speculation in investments, such revenue permitted a rapid rise in canal construction between 1834 and 1840.  About 3000 miles of canals provided channels of trade in the United States by 1840.  Initial promotion of the Fox Waterway emerged during this era of economic optimism.



The financial downturn of 1839 ended the availability of capital and halted many of these projects.  States generally transferred projects to chartered companies for completion.  After 1850 as changing political views supported waterway improvement as a proper activity for the federal government, it became increasingly involved in navigation improvements.





Early Promotion of the Fox-Wisconsin Waterway



Early work along the Fox-Wisconsin Waterway began with the Portage Canal.  Supporters only began to understand the amount of work and capital required to even start their project as they began to cut a path across the portage.



In 1829, Morgan Martin of Green Bay proposed the modification of the Fox by channel and canal excavation, lift locks, and dams to overcome the drop between Portage and Green Bay.  Chronically short of funds, the Summit Portage Canal and Road Company which he found failed to construct the canal.  In 1835, the Portage Canal Company completed a shallow excavation along Wauona Trail.  In 1838, the reorganized Portage Canal Company attempted to complete a 7'-6" deep canal with a single timber lock.  Work soon ceased in the depression of the 1830s.



As their project proceeded in fits and starts, supporters increasingly promoted the waterway.  The pre-Civil War period was a highly speculative era.  Small settlements near waterways began to envision a growth compared to Buffalo's rapid rise to commercial prominence.  In Wisconsin, municipal leaders in the Fox River communities, land and town speculators such as James Doty, investors and early industrialists such as Daniel Whitney, and politicians, particularly Morgan Martin and Nathaniel P. Tallmadge, feverishly lobbied for federal support.  Early promoters sought indirect benefit, anticipating that the presence of a channel of trade would further their individual projects.



Prior to the Civil War, Congress typically responded to promising proposals with a preliminary investigation by the Corps.  A small number of these received federal land grants.  Thus, in 1837 and 1839, Colonel John B. Petitval and Captain Thomas Cram of the Corps examined the waterway's feasibility.   Cram recommended the slack water system which guided the project for many years.  After numerous memorials from the territorial legislature, Congress authorized a land grant for the waterway project in 1846.



A State Project: The Board of Public Works, 1846-1853



Wisconsin received its land grant at statehood in 1848.  By its acceptance of the grant, the state became responsible for the waterway's completion.  Wisconsin's constitution thwarted the completion of the project.  The financial crisis created by earlier state internal improvement programs lead the framers of Wisconsin's constitution to expressly prohibited the accumulation of state debt for this purpose.  It did permit the state to appropriate to projects revenues gained from the land grant of 1846.



The legislature formed the Board of Public Works to supervise land sales, let contracts, and oversee the work.  The Board began the project with the construction of the Portage Canal.  On March 6, 1849, it advertised for bids to construct the canal's two locks, excavate the canal, and protect its sides with timber revetments.  The Board let two contracts on May 1, 1849, to excavate the channel and build both locks.  The canal measured 4' deep, 44' wide at the bottom, and 60' wide at the top.  Pine planking and oak structural members composed the revetments holding the sides.  The Portage Lock, a guard lock, prevented sand from washing from the Wisconsin into the canal.  The Fort Winnebago Lock served as a lift lock between the Fox River and the canal.  Both locks were 35' X 140', timber structures.  The board increased the length of the Portage Lock about 1851.



Work delays and deficiencies in construction under both contractors resulted from the inexperience of the contractors, engineer, and the Board in gauging the approach required to build such a structure.  Outside of the Corps, the number of engineers experienced with navigation improvement remained few even by 1850.  After extensions of one year, the canal reached completion by June 9, 1851.



Construction costs chronically exceeded income from land sales, and debt mounted.  The Board failed to complete the waterway project primarily because land sales provided insufficient revenue.  Restrictions in the grant and the state's refusal to sustain a debt added to the financial plight of the improvement.  The undertaking of such a project by a new state with limited resources was a financial and engineering challenge not easily met.



Private Development, 1853-66



During the 1830s and early 1840s, states financially unable to complete their projects frequently turned over the remainder of their land grant and promise of revenues to private companies for completion.  Likewise, the Wisconsin legislature incorporated the Fox and Wisconsin Improvement Company on July 6, 1853 to assume project supervision from the Board.



Established on June 1, 1853, the company included eight members from the Green Bay to Fond du Lac area.  Its members who were active promoters of the state project pushed for its private supervision and anticipated that it would benefit their interests.  Morgan Martin provided its primary leadership, and the remaining officers were financially influential men.  Since the land grant furnished insufficient funds, the company sought additional resources such as bonds, a mortgage, the leasing of waterpower and warehouse space, and a loan from New York investors.  Acts of 1854 and 1855 amended and enlarged the original land grant to the state.



When the legislature extended the original completion date of 1856 to 1859 and granted the additional federal lands to the company, it required payment of outstanding debts and placement of the company under a state trusteeship.  The state specified enlargement of the waterway including reconstruction of the locks at Portage.



During this period, the improvement company conducted significant improvements along the Fox River.  However, the Portage Lock underwent few modifications in the 1850s and 1860s.  The company dredged the canal in 1858 and 1859, allowing boats to pass from the Wisconsin to the Upper Fox.  The rebuilding of the Fort Winnebago Lock was completed in 1858-1859.  Constructed on the site of the first lock, the 35' X 160' lock was composed of stone-filled timber cribs.



Although steamboats navigated the waterway during periods of high water, the company lacked the resources to expand its capacity as required in the 1856 agreement.  Foreclosure occurred on February 2, 1866, at Appleton.  Incorporated as the Green Bay and Mississippi Canal Company on August 16, 1866, a nine-member investment group, many of whom belonged to the earlier group, purchased the improvement for $191,000.  The state required that the company enlarge the improvement to the 1856 specifications.  The federal government extended the completion date from 1868 to 1873.



Because the new canal company found little profit in operating the waterway for navigation purposes, it undertook limited improvement.  Instead of improving the navigation system, the canal company turned to the development and leasing of waterpower produced at its dams.

 

The canal company sold the navigation improvements to the federal government for $145,000 on September 18, 1872.  The federal government received twenty-two locks, eleven dams, and 7.5 miles of canal.  The company retained all rights to waterpower in excess of the amount necessary for navigation and continued to operate.  It secured revenue by leasing its waterpower, real estate, and plants to other interests.  On November 21, 1973, the company sold its assets to Kaukauna.



Completion Under the Milwaukee District, Army Corps of Engineers



The Corps assumed supervision of the waterway in 1872.  The growing use of the steamboat in the 1820s required the creation of comparatively large channels.  As its use became vital to commerce in the 1850s, Congress funded an increasing number of navigation improvements.  Since Congress's pork barrel approach never developed an overall plan for its projects, it tended to fund small sums to a wide array of projects.  This tact delayed the completion of any one project including the Fox-Wisconsin for years.  In addition to conducting feasibility studies and preliminary planning, the Corps thus became active in project oversight after the Civil War.



A permanent Corps field office was established in Milwaukee when the federal government purchased the Fox Waterway improvements in October 1872.  The Corps reconstructed the Fox Waterway between about 1874 and 1878.  Despite the years of construction along the waterway, Major Houston's survey found navigation improvements in poor condition and unable to carry the large steamboats of the era.  Between 1874 and 1876, the Army Corps dredged the Portage Canal to create a 5' deep channel and replaced timber revetments.  In 1880, the Portage Lock received relatively extensive repairs, but the timber structure remained.  Between 1874 and 1879, different parts of the Fort Winnebago Lock, a composite structure, also underwent repair.



By the mid-1880s, the Corps had completed the slack water system which was intended to deepened the Fox's channel.  It finished the construction of pools and dams and conducted considerable dredging along the Upper Fox.  The agency also rebuilt many of the locks and dams and dredged canals along the Lower Fox.  However, the Corps determined that it was not economically feasible to develop the waterway,s capacity for deep-draft vessels.  Additionally, after many attempts of dredging and wing dam construction to form and deepen a single channel, it remained unable to create a navigable waterway along the Wisconsin River.  The Corps abandoned this portion of the project in the mid-1880s.  This significant decision established a local waterway serving the Fox Valley rather than a through waterway carrying the nation's commerce between the East and the Mississippi Valley.

Era of Significant Use



Early supporters of the Fox-Wisconsin Waterway such as Cram and Martin envisioned the route as a developmental waterway, fostering the growth of agricultural and industrial commerce.  Like many other waterways at mid-century, the success of the Fox Waterway must be measured in tonnage of commerce transported and contribution to early settlement and agricultural and industrial development rather than tolls earned.  When examined from this perspective, the navigation improvements had a significant impact on early economic growth into the post-Civil War period.  Until after full development of a railroad network during the 1860s, no viable alternative to long-distance transportation system existed in the region.



Shipping on the waterway began well before its final completion by the Corps in the 1870s.  As early as 1851, the Board of Public Works set rates for shipment of a wide variety of goods and hired the lock tender at Portage in 1853.  Shallow draft steamboats such as the Enterprise, Berlin, and Princeton operated along the Wisconsin as far as Portage in the 1850s.  Shipping occurred along short segments of the Fox during periods of high water by the mid-1850s.  The Aquila navigated its entire length at high water in 1856.  Navigation along the entire Fox Waterway began sporadically in 1858.  Regular trips occurred between Green Bay and Berlin, and for part of the navigation season, between Berlin and Montello with occasional trips to Portage.



By 1858, of the fifty-three commodities shipped along the river, logs, boards, and planks composed the dominant items.  The upriver shipment of lumber, probably destined for the Wisconsin and the Mississippi river markets through the Portage Canal, totalled 3,922,767 board feet.  Also in 1859, wood products; building products including sandstone, lime, gravel, and bricks; agricultural products such as butter, wool, wheat, oats, bran, and fruits; and manufactured goods such as flour, furniture, castings, and ironware composed much of the commerce.



The period of greatest commerce occurred in the 1860s and 1870s as settlement along the Upper Fox Valley rapidly expanded.  By 1862, the improvement company recognized the railroads which ran through Portage and five other Fox communities as sharp competitors for the carriage of wheat and flour.  The company projected that it would ship one-half the grain produced in eight Fox River counties in 1863.  In 1867, General Warren indicated that the Upper Fox Valley relied almost exclusively on the river for commerce.



Steamboats on the Upper Fox became more numerous and began to maintain regular schedules in the 1860s.  The Portage and Green Bay Transportation Company operated steamboats and barges between the two cities.  This company probably owned the Portage which travelled between Green Bay and Portage between 1862 and the 1890s.  The L.W. Barden operated regularly between the two cities in 1867.  During a season, these two boats each carried sixty tons of cargo.  Also owned by the Portage company, the Granite State ran between Portage and Green Bay between 1865 and 1895.  The Winneconne operated along the Upper Fox from Portage between 1866 and 1869 when it was sold to the Corps to served as a dredge.



By the early 1870s, farmers and manufacturers increasingly shipped bulk agricultural and industrial products rather than more finished goods of greater value.  Here, the railroad's competitive edge was less clear.  The prodigious midwestern agricultural production provided sufficient commerce for both forms of transportation.  In memorials to Congress, the Wisconsin legislature noted insufficient transportation facilities to move goods in this period.  The cost of shipment remained so high that the producer realized little profit.



The Corps reconstructed the Fox Waterway to accommodate light draft commercial vessels after 1872.  Although the agency began developing the Fox as a local waterway in the 1880s, its 1884 report noted that because the freight business was large, it would rise considerably if interested parties were assured of a navigable channel.



After the reconstruction of the canal in 1876, craft up to a 300 ton capacity could use the waterway.  Between 1876 and 1905, steamboats carried freight such as lead ore, lumber, logs, coal, stone, lime, clay, and agricultural products, especially grain.  Others carried only passengers, and many carried both.  Although thirteen individual steamboats running from Portage to other points on the Fox and Wisconsin were identified, the regularity of their trips between the 1870 and 1900 is generally unknown.  Lockage included a rising percentage of pleasure craft and excursion boats by the 1870s.



During the 1890's, commerce along most of the waterway fell considerably.  With an average annual lockage of 12,634 for the waterway, the average totalled 185 at the Fort Winnebago Lock and fifty-one at the Portage Lock.  Along the waterway, much of the 389,291 tons, 73 percent, remained logs and wood products.  Coal and building materials composed much of the remainder.  Few agricultural products, primarily grain, moved along the waterway.  Most of the tonnage occurred along the Lower Fox.



The Development of the Railroad Network and Creation of a Local Waterway



Railroad transportation eventually absorbed much of the commerce carried along midwestern waterways.  It first captured the more valuable, manufactured products and later increasingly carried bulk goods.



Railroad building began to connect the East with Chicago in the early 1850s.  In Wisconsin, the La Crosse and Milwaukee crossed the Fox at Portage in late 1856.  A railroad connected Milwaukee with Fond du Lac on Lake Winnebago in 1859 and with Green Bay in 1862.  The railroad network became well established in Wisconsin and along the Mississippi by the late 1860s.



Into the Civil War until uniform track gauges were achieved and the frequent and costly transfer of goods between railroad lines became unnecessary, railroads in Wisconsin and elsewhere were viewed as adjuncts to water transportation.  With these initial track consolidation problems, the potential impact of long-distance carriage by the railroad was not necessarily obvious to the promoters of Fox-Wisconsin Waterway in the 1850s and 1860s.  By 1860, waterways continued to transport most of the nation's goods by tonnage although not by value.  Given the rapidly increasing volume of trade in the Upper Midwest, contemporary view suggested that both modes of transportation would prosper.



The 1874 report of the Windom Congressional Committee which examined midwestern commerce argued that waterway transportation proved less expensive for bulk goods than the railroad.  These studies justified continued improvement of the Fox and other midwestern waterways in Corps reports.  By the 1880s, railroads, heavily subsidized by the government, failed to meet their public responsibility to provide transportation at a reasonable cost.  Attempting to control railroad monopoly over the nation's transportation, Congress funded waterways to provide competition with railroads between 1860 and 1890 and passed regulatory legislation.  Waterways appeared to provide potential competition necessary to reduce railroad rates even if actually little utilized.



Along Fox, the Corps strove to create a waterway competitive with local railroads.  Without significant funding by state or federal government during its early years of construction, insufficient capital existed to support its completion before railroad expansion.  When the waterway gained sufficient improvement to operate effectively in the 1870s, the railroad was well established.  Absence of the Wisconsin River link further hampered the growth of shipping.  Because of the value of low cost shipping to local communities along the Fox, the Board of Engineers recommended continued navigation improvements along the Fox and Portage Canal in 1884.



During this period along the Portage Canal, the Corps finally replaced the wooden Portage guard lock with a lift lock in 1892 and 1893.  The second, 35' x 165', composite lock, had walls composed of timber cribs filled with stone and finished with a concrete cap.  Planking covered the walls and floor timbers, and timber gates closed the structure.



The Corps substantially rebuilt the Fort Winnebago Lock at its former location in early 1890.  The agency built a composite structure of stone-filled crib walls on the extant timber base.  To prevent water leakage through the walls, a 6" concrete facing was placed between the timber cribbing and planking which formed the exterior chamber walls.  In the 1890s, concrete was employed in lock construction primarily as a seal to prevent water leakage.  The Corps erected its first concrete lock structure along the Hennepin Canal Illinois, in the 1890s.  This lock remained until its partial replacement in 1936.



Repairs were made to the revetments, and the canal was probably dredged in 1891-1892.  The last identified replacement of timber revetments along a significant portion of the canal occurred in 1897.  Because adjacent land owners charged workers with trespass, work was halted.  Immediately after the flood of 1900, both locks received substantial repairs.  Between 1903 and World War I, the district conducted minor repairs at the locks almost annually.



Temporary Rebirth: Deep Channel Navigation



Traffic along most navigable waterways including the Fox and Mississippi rivers dropped significantly by 1900.  By 1905, the railroads lacked sufficient capacity to carry the expanding agricultural production.  Completion of the Panama Canal in 1914 made the cost of waterway shipment from the Midwest less competitive.  With reduced competition and growing demand, railroad rates rose, especially after the Commerce Commission permitted rate increases along the Upper Mississippi in 1925.



During the World War I, the federal government encouraged reintroduction of bulk waterway shipment to expand the transportation network choked by wartime commerce.  To gain control over the chaos in transportation, the federal government took over the railroads in 1917 and established a federal barge line on the lower Mississippi.  The Inland and Coastal Waterways Service continued the line after the war.  Considerable promotion by Twin City business interests resulted in the organization of a similar line along the upper river and its tributaries in 1927.  These efforts caused Mississippi River tonnage to climb 120 times between 1930 and 1970.



The capacity to carry large loads expanded the carriers' ability to compete with railroads.  Because channel depth limited the size of vessel loads, channel enlargement was essential to the maintenance of midwestern shipping.  Supporters fought long and hard to achieve a 9' deep barge channel project along the lower and later the upper Mississippi and Illinois rivers.



Local spokesmen advocated a similar program for the Fox-Wisconsin.  By the early 1920s, O.G.J. Peters of Portage led commercial interests in Fox communities in support of deep channel navigation.  In 1926, the Standard Unit Navigation Company of St. Louis provisionally agreed to operate a shallow draft barge along the waterway.  The Portage Deep Waterway Committee demonstrated to the company the existence of sufficient trade to warrant service.  The project never materialized because of the collapse of the Portage Lock during the 1926 flood.



Although the 1922 Corps report recommended closing the Upper Fox, Congress failed to act on the proposal.  Based primarily on information provided by the Portage committee and without action by Congress, the Corps rebuild the Portage Lock between 1926 and 1928 to accommodate deep draft vessels for a deep channel waterway.  The lock became the largest on the Fox Waterway.  The Milwaukee Corps District completed the plans in June, 1926.  The specifications described a concrete lock with steel gates and steel operating mechanisms.  M.E. White Construction Company of Chicago built the lock.



The contractor poured the first of six concrete sections in April and May, 1927.  It poured large sections to ensure fabrication of a monolithic slab without fractures.  The Corps' specifications engineered the sizing and placement of rebar to ensure that the concrete structure would withstand the tremendous force exerted by the water.  In October, 1927, the contractor received the structural steel for the gates from the Lakeside Bridge and Steel Company.  By January 1928, it was completing stone masonry wing walls using stone from the first lock, building the concrete support walls perpendicular to the lock, and installing the hand-operated mechanisms which moved the gates.  The canal was filled with water on April 28, 1928.



The Corps dredged a small portion of the canal in 1927, but sand bars and weeds choked parts of the canal by 1931.  Because of the low prospect for future commerce, the agency discontinued dredging.  Thus, although supporters of the deep channel gained a substantial lock, they remained unable to convince Congress to develop the waterway for deep draft vessels through the 1940s.  Congress simply failed to act on the issue.





Decline of the Local Waterway



Attempts to maintain a scheduled shipping service on the upper river above Berlin were abandoned about 1900.  Tonnage along the entire Fox River system dropped precipitously during the economic reversal of the 1890s and never recovered.  Total commerce between 1890 and 1914 fell 65 percent.  On the Upper Fox, recreational trips became the most common use, doubling the lockage between 1900 and 1915.  In 1918, the Upper Fox carried only 321 tons.



Lockage data available between 1897 and 1918 indicates that the Portage Lock was the least used along the Fox while the Fort Winnebago Lock became one of the most frequently used on the Upper Fox.  By 1908, lockage at Fort Winnebago reached 2,461 but remained in the 100s and 200s at the Portage Lock. 



The low level of commerce on the Upper Fox led the Corps to conclude by 1922 that maintenance of existing navigation facilities was no longer economically practical.  By 1950, a small number of recreational vessel composed all the boat traffic.  The level of improvement along the Upper Fox declined as use diminished.  In the 1940s's, World War II shifted the Corps' priorities away from the waterway.  Despite the reduction of maintenance by the 1930s, minor work occurred at the Portage Lock in 1936.  Reconstruction of the Fort Winnebago Lock in the same year involved rebuilding the floor, at least a portion of the timber side walls, and the gates.  Completed at a cost of $38,650, the structure remained a composite lock with dry laid, stone masonry walls surrounded by timber cribbing sheathed with pine planking along the lock chamber.



Closing the Upper Fox and Return of the Waterway to the State



The Corps closed the Upper Fox to navigation between Portage and Eureka in 1951.  By a 1959 agreement with Wisconsin, the agency prepared the Upper Fox for transfer to the state as a recreational waterway.  It created water control structures along the waterway to create water levels appropriate for wildlife preservation.  The Corps dismantled most of the Fort Winnebago Lock to create a waste weir for water level control.  With a limited number of changes, it converted the Portage Lock to a water control structure.  The federal government quitclaimed its property along the Upper Fox to the state in 1961.
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